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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO, NORTHERN DIVISION

CHANTELL and MICHAEL SACKETT, 

Plaintiffs,

            v.

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION AGENCY; and STEPHEN L.
JOHNSON, in his official capacity as Administrator
of the Environmental Protection Agency,

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 08-cv-185-N-EJL

  MEMORANDUM ORDER

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1), Defendant United States

Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") moves to dismiss this action for lack of subject

matter jurisdiction.  Plaintiffs Chantell and Michael Sackett oppose the motion.  Having fully

reviewed the record, the Court finds that the facts and legal arguments are adequately

presented in the briefs and record.  Accordingly, in the interest of avoiding further delay, and

because the Court conclusively finds that the decisional process would not be significantly

aided by oral argument, this matter shall be decided on the record before this Court without

oral argument.

Background

Plaintiffs own a parcel of undeveloped property located at 1604 Kalispell Bay Road,

near Kalispell Creek, in Bonner County, Idaho. On November 26, 2007, EPA issued to



1  “A compliance order is a document served on the violator, setting forth the nature of the
violation and specifying a time for compliance with the Act.” S. Pines Ass'n v. United States, 912
F.2d 713, 715 (4th Cir. 1990) (citing 33 U.S.C. § 1319(a)(5)(A)).
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Plaintiffs an Administrative Compliance Order ("Compliance Order")1 pursuant to sections

308 and 309(a) of the Clean Water Act ("CWA" or “Act”), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1318 and 1319(a).

The Compliance Order charged that Plaintiffs, or persons acting on their behalf, had violated

section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C § 1311, by discharging fill material into regulated waters

without first obtaining a permit. The Compliance Order required Plaintiffs to remove the fill

material and restore the wetlands, and set forth a schedule for the removal of the fill material

and replanting of the disturbed area.  

The Compliance Order was revised by the EPA on April 4, 2008 and again on May

1, 2008, to amend the compliance schedule. Each Compliance Order encouraged Plaintiffs

“to engage in informal discussion of the terms and requirements of this Order upon receipt,”

and indicated that the Compliance Order could be amended to provide for alternative

methods of achieving compliance with the CWA. Each Compliance Order also warned that

“failure to comply with, the foregoing Order may subject Respondents to (1) civil penalties

of up to $32,500 per day of violation pursuant to section 309(d) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. §

1319(d), and 40 C.F.R. Part 19; (2) administrative penalties of up to $11,000 per day for each

violation, pursuant to section 309(g) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g), and 40 C.F.R. Part 19;

or (3) civil action in federal court for injunctive relief, pursuant to Section 309(b) of the Act,

33 U .S.C. § 1319(b).”

On April 28, 2008, Plaintiffs initiated the present action, alleging that the property is

not subject to CWA jurisdiction and that the Compliance Order is a violation of Plaintiffs’

due process rights. EPA, in turn, moved to dismiss the Plaintiffs’ Complaint, contending that

the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the Plaintiffs’ claims. 
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Statutory Framework

Congress delegated the authority for enforcement of CWA jointly to both the EPA and

the Corps of Engineers, and gave both agencies a range of enforcement tools. Relevant here,

the EPA can issue administrative compliance orders or bring civil enforcement actions in

federal court. “The violator is subject to the same injunction and penalties whether or not

EPA has issued a compliance order.” S. Pines Ass'n v. United States, 912 F.2d 713, 715-16

(4th Cir. 1990). However, violation of an administrative compliance order will not result in

an injunction or penalties until EPA brings an enforcement proceeding in federal district

court pursuant to section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b). Id. at 717. In any such

judicial proceeding, the alleged violator may raise all defenses, including any challenges to

the EPA’s assertion of jurisdiction over the activity at issue. Id. 

Discussion

The United States, as a sovereign, may not be sued in federal court without its

consent.   United States v. Testan, 424 U.S. 392, 399 (1976).  Where the United States has

not consented to suit, the court lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action and

dismissal is required.  Hutchinson v. United States, 677 F.2d 1322, 1327 (9th Cir. 1982). The

“party bringing a cause of action against the federal government bears the burden of showing

an unequivocal waiver of immunity.”  Baker v. United States, 817 F.2d 560, 562 (9th Cir.

1987).

The Plaintiffs have failed to carry their burden on this issue. Plaintiffs first argue that

the Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ Complaint because Plaintiffs seek

declaratory and injunctive relief to prevent  an imminent due process injury. According to

Plaintiffs “[i]t is well established that the district courts have jurisdiction to entertain such

claims.” (Pls.’ Opp’n at 2 (citing one district court case, from the District of Columbia)).

Plaintiffs’ assertion, however, is incorrect. To the contrary, “[i]t is well-settled that

28 U.S.C. § 1331, granting district courts jurisdiction over cases arising under the



2  Furthermore, Plaintiffs neglect to mention that in TVA the Eleventh Circuit’s actual
conclusion was that “we lack jurisdiction to review the ACO [administrative compliance order]
because it does not constitute ‘final’ agency action.” 226 F.3d at 1239. So that even if the Court
believed it appropriate to extend TVA’s analysis of the Clean Air Act to the CWA, which it does
not, it would result in the very same outcome as here: dismissal of the Plaintiffs’ action for lack
jurisdiction. Id. at 1260 (ruling that “ACOs lack finality . . . [and] we thus conclude that courts of
appeals lack jurisdiction to review the validity of ACOs.”). Plaintiffs also cite Alaska Dep't of Envtl.
Conservation v. EPA, 244 F.3d 748, 750 (9th Cir. 2001), which like TVA is a Clean Air Act case
and therefore is equally inapposite. 
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Constitution, is not a waiver of sovereign immunity.” Humphreys v. United States, 62 F.3d

667, 673 (5th Cir. 1995). And it is similarly “settled that [the Declaratory Judgment Act,]

28 U.S.C. § 2201, does not itself confer jurisdiction on a federal court where none otherwise

exists.” Amalgamated Sugar Co. v. Bergland, 664 F.2d 818, 822 (10th Cir.1981). Therefore,

the mere fact that Plaintiffs allege a constitutional violation and ask for declaratory and

injunctive relief does not satisfy their burden of establishing an unequivocal waiver of

sovereign immunity.

The Plaintiffs next assert that “[j]urisdiction is also proper under the Administrative

Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 551, et seq., because the Compliance Order constitutes

‘final agency action.’” (Pls.’ Opp’n at 1). In support of this theory, Plaintiffs rely upon a

Clean Air Act case from the Eleventh Circuit, Tennessee Valley Authority (“TVA”) v.

Whitman, 336 F.3d 1236 (11th Cir. 2003), and argue that TVA “applies analogously to

support Plaintiffs’ contention that issuance of CWA compliance orders without affording the

regulated party an opportunity to contest the basis of the order is unconstitutional.” (Pls.’

Opp’n at 4).

There is no need, however, for the Court to resolve the matter before it by applying

Eleventh Circuit case law interpreting the Clean Air Act.2 That is because there are numerous

Circuit Court opinions addressing the very same situation presented here, with all of them

finding that a district court lacks jurisdiction to review a pre-enforcement compliance order

issued under the CWA. In all these opinions, the courts held that, based on their
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interpretation of the legislative history and structure of the CWA, Congress intended to

preclude judicial review of compliance orders prior to the initiation of a civil action. Laguna

Gatuna, Inc. v. Browner, 58 F.3d 564, 565-66 (10th Cir.1995) (holding that CWA did not

provide for judicial review of EPA compliance order); Southern Ohio Coal Co. v. Office of

Surface Mining, 20 F.3d 1418, 1426- 27 (6th Cir.1994) (same); Reuth v. EPA, 13 F.3d 227,

229-30 (7th Cir. 1993) (holding that challenge to government's right to assert jurisdiction

over wetlands in proposed development could not be brought unless government initiates

judicial enforcement action); Southern Pines Assocs. v. United States, 912 F.2d 713 (4th

Cir.1990) (holding that review of compliance orders issued under CWA were precluded until

judicial enforcement action commenced); Hoffman Group Inc. v. EPA, 902 F.2d 567 (7th

Cir.1990) (same).

Moreover, it appears that every published district court decision on this same issue,

including one issued within the last two months, also has concluded that there is no

jurisdiction over a administrative compliance order issued under the CWA. See e.g., Acquest

Wehrle LLC v. United States, __ F. Supp. 2d ___, 2008, 2008 WL 2522386 at *7 (W.D.

N.Y. June 20, 2008); see also Def.’s Mem at 13-14 (listing over ten district court cases). The

Court finds these opinions to be well reasoned and consistent with the law. Accordingly, the

Court will follow the same in finding that the Court lacks jurisdiction to review the

Compliance Order and granting EPA’s Motion to Dismiss for lack of subject matter

jurisdiction. 

ORDER

Based on the foregoing, the Court being fully advised in the premises it is HEREBY

ORDERED that the United States’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint for Lack of

Subject Matter Jurisdiction (docket no. 14) is GRANTED.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this case is DISMISSED in its entirety.

DATED:  August 7, 2008

                                                
Honorable Edward J. Lodge
U. S. District Judge

 
    


